rsité de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine



Master Thesis in Medicine, Nr 110

Rational Monitoring of Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) after Radical Prostatectomy.

Student Hugo Teixeira Farinha

Tutor

Pr. Thierry Buclin, PD MER Div. of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, CHUV

Co-tutor

Dr. Eric Grouzmann, PD MER Div. of Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, CHUV

Expert

Prof. Patrice Jichlinski Urology service, CHUV

Lausanne, December 2011

Contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	4
Method	6
1. Patient recruitment and data collection	6
2. Population description	7
3. Relationship between clinical markers and relapse	7
4. PSA database description	7
5. PSADTcalculation and predictive performance	9
Results	11
1. Descriptive Analysis	11
1.1. Study Population	11
1.2. Relation between clinical markers and outcomes (univariate analysis)	12
1.3. Prediction of outcome by clinical markers (multivariate approach)	14
2. Assessment of PSA post-operative Monitoring	14
2.1. Time of postoperative PSA determinations	14
2.2. Postoperative PSA trajectories	16
2.3. Variogram of PSA evolution	
2.4. PSA responsiveness to re-intervention	
3. PSA doubling time	
3.1. Determination of PSA doubling time (PSADT)	20
3.2. PSADT log slope method versus 2-points method (univariate approach)	21
4. Predictive value of PSADT regarding cancer relapse	21
4.1. PSADT predictive value at 6 month, 1 year, 2 years and 3 years after RP (univariate approach)	21
4.2. Predictive value of PSADT cut-offs (univariate approach)	22
4.3 Added value of PSADT in outcome prediction (multivariate approach)	22
Discussion	24
References	27

Abstract

Purpose: PSA monitoring is the main tool for urologists and practitioners to detect prostate cancer relapse after radical prostatectomy, and is recommended in current guidelines for the management of corresponding patients. PSA doubling time (PSADT) is a useful concept to assist PSA results interpretation. However, several calculation options compete, and there is no definite consensus regarding how to best follow up PSA in this condition. The aim of this retrospective observational study was to describe prognostic markers (TNM grade, Gleason score, capsular penetration), PSA trajectories and cancer relapse after radical prostatectomy in a series of patients, and to assess critically the current PSA monitoring approaches, in particular PSADT calculation.

Methods: Patients were selected from a PSA measurements database of a medical laboratory, collected over 10 years. Inclusion criteria were PSA levels monitored 3 times over 1 year or 4 times over 2 years in the aftermath of a radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer. The clinical data were collected from the medical records of practitioners (remission versus relapse status; dates of interventions; post-surgery pTNM stage, Gleason score and capsular penetration; subsequent biopsies; imaging; chemotherapy, radiotherapy or hormonal treatment). Relapse was defined by distant metastasis or biopsy or imaging showing recurrence, or by the initiation of secondary anticancer treatment. PSADT calculation was made using either the Log-slope method or the 2-points method, once including all available values of PSA, and once selecting only PSA values above 0.1 ng/mL. PSA trajectories were described by longitudinal non-linear mixed effect modelling and a variogram analysis, while their prognostic value was assessed by Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and Cox proportional hazard models.

Results: PSA trajectories are highly variable and divergent between patients, even after taking into account their T and N grade, individual clinical markers which are strong predictors of relapse. At about 2 years distance, a change in PSA becomes indicative of clinically relevant trend in a fraction of patients (5%), which increases along the time. PSADT calculated with the Log-slope method predicts relapse better than with the 2 point method. Taking into account all available PSA values is also more efficient than restricting the calculation to those above 0.1 ng/mL. Already when estimated at 6 months or 1 year postoperatively, PSADT definitely improves the prediction of relapse in addition to grade T and Nodular Invasion.

Conclusion: PSA trajectories are characterized by large variability, even accounting for known prognostic markers. Our results fully support the regular follow-up of PSA and the calculation of PSADT for prediction and detection of cancer relapse after radical prostatectomy.

Introduction

In Europe, prostate cancer is among the commonest neoplasm, with a lifelong incidence of more than 200 cases per 100000 men. In developed countries, it has become a significant public health problem.(1,2) Radical Prostatectomy (RP) is the gold-standard treatment for localized prostate cancer,(3) showing a benefit on survival compared to watchful waiting.(4) Despite its good results, RP does not guarantee complete cancer eradication though, making secondary relapse a frequent cause of healthcare requirement, quality of life impairment and death.(4)

Circulating Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) is widely used by clinicians for prostate cancer detection, although it is use for screening is the object of hot controversies, due to the important overlap between physiological levels and values indicative of tumour.(5,6) In contrast, the use of this marker to assess curative treatment response and detect possible recurrence seems widely accepted, despite some contradictions in the literature.(7) Indeed, RP is supposed to leave no glandular tissue and to almost completely suppress PSA production in the body, thus making its detection or increase highly suggestive of incomplete cancer eradication or relapse, respectively.

Prognostic markers available immediately after RP have been shown to predict the relapse of cancer. These parameters are the TNM and Gleason scores, capsular penetration and preoperative PSA level.(8) Despite their significant association with the probability of relapse, they remain of limited usefulness to decide when a treatment must be reiterated.

PSA remains therefore the mostly used tool for urologists and general practitioners to detect prostate cancer relapse after RP.(9) Guidelines have been established for the monitoring of post-prostatectomy PSA levels. The European Association of Urology recommends a formal serum PSA measurement calendar supplemented by digital rectal examination for routine follow-up. PSA monitoring should be performed at 3, 6, and 12 months after treatment, then every 6 months until 3 years, and thereafter on an annual basis. However, these recommendations are mostly based on experts' experience and to our knowledge, observations to support this practice have not been analyzed according to an evidence-based approach.(10,11) Nowadays the best way to monitor PSA remains unclear and still disputed.(7) A further complication lies in the definition of relapse, which itself remains unclear. Relapse can be defined by the demonstration of metastatic or local recurrence by imaging and biopsy, but most urologists acknowledge that purely biochemical cancer relapse (BCR), defined solely by PSA increase, already deserve treatment.(12) Many proposals were issued to define PSA cut-offs defining BCR. For

example the European Association of Urology proposes that values over 0.2 ng/mL are indicative of residual or current disease; other authors suggest cut-offs between >0.1 ng/mL and >0.4 ng/mL.(10,13,14,15)

Further alternatives used to detect BCR are not based on absolute PSA levels, but rather on PSA kinetics over time. One such alternative is the determination of PSA doubling-time (PSADT). The use of PSADT to monitor prostate cancer relapse after RP was shown effective.(16) However, calculation methods and cut-offs are still inconsistent in the literature, leaving clinicians poorly informed and confused about PSADT utilization. (17,18)

This study is based on a retrospective analysis of a series of patients followed up after initial surgery for prostate cancer. The aim of our investigation was 1) to describe a series of patients followed up after RP, and the relationship between classical prognostic markers (TNM score, Gleason score, capsular penetration) and clinical outcome (relapse); 2) to describe the profiles of PSA measurements in these patients; 3) to assess current PSA monitoring approaches, in particular the PSA doubling time (PSADT) advised by several authors; and 4) to evaluate the predictive power of PSA monitoring regarding clinical evolution. This analysis should bring support to recommendations regarding PSA monitoring for the detection of prostate cancer relapse after radical prostatectomy.

Methods

1. Patient recruitment and data collection

This retrospective study was purely observational. Patients were selected from the database of the medical laboratory Meditest SA based in Vevey, Switzerland, who performed thousands of PSA measurements between January 2001 and December and 2010 for private practitioners. Patients considered for inclusion were those having had their PSA levels monitored at least 3 times over 1 year, or 4 times over 2 years (recruitment criterion). We included those confirmed to have undergone RP for prostate cancer (selection criterion). This approach aimed to obtain data rich PSA series determined in the same laboratory. The confirmation of RP was obtained after reviewing the medical records of each patient considered for recruitment. First the patients of the laboratory database were classified by practitioner name. Then the patients from physicians who had more than ten cases in our series were selected. A first sample of three hundred patients was thus selected corresponding to eight physicians, who were contacted and accepted to open their medical records to our investigation. The study had been approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Biology and Medicine in Lausanne. The lifelong series of PSA results (uniformly expressed in ng/mL) was then recorded for the patients included. Focused reading of medical records enabled to extract relevant information database.(13) All clinical, imaging and histological exams and all treatments known to influence prostate cancer course and PSA levels (chemotherapy, radiotherapy or hormonal treatment) were recorded chronologically. The Gleason score was determined on biopsy samples and the TNM (Classification of Malignant Tumors) was based on pathology samples (pTNM) collected during RP. Gleason score and pTNM classifications were defined according to the European Association of Urology recommendations.(10,11)

The evolution of the clinical outcome of study patients was coded according to remission / relapse / progression / metastasis / persistence, each change being associated with the most accurate date based on available information. Relapse was defined by diagnosed local recurrence, distant metastasis or the initiation of secondary anticancer treatment. This definition includes cases considered as purely biochemical relapse (BCR) considered to deserve secondary treatment. We also repeated our analysis on relapse cases selectively defined based only on imaging and biopsy.

2. Population description

A description of the data was first conducted. Statistical analyses were performed using the STATA 11.1 software package (Corporation, College Station, Tex). Summary tables were used to describe the population characteristics such as age, pTNM, Gleason scores, Capsular Penetration, relapse frequency and secondary anticancer treatments. Histograms, dot-plot and box-plot graphs were generated.

3. Relationship between clinical markers and relapse

Classical tests of hypothesis like simple mean comparison tests (t-tests) and simple proportion comparison tests and nonparametric Wilcoxon rank-sum tests were applied for groups comparisons, when appropriate. Mixed-effects linear regression tests were used to analyse measures repeated in the study patients.

Regarding time to relapse, to account for censoring in our study data, it was necessary to use Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and Cox proportional hazard models. We compared competing models with likelihood ratio tests (STATA version 11) to assess the relationships between prognostic markers and relapse and estimate hazard ratios, survival probabilities and atributable risks.

4. Description of PSA profiles

Circulating total PSA was measured in Meditest laboratory during the years of follow-up by immunoenzymatic chemiluminescent sandwich assays (Elecsys (Roche), Centaur (Siemens), AU3000i (Olympus) and Dxi (Beckman Coulter)) all exhibiting functional sensitivity between 0.006 to 0.019 ng/ml (i.e. CV<20%) and intra and inter assay CV below 4 %.

It is known that a fraction of circulating PSA is enveloped by the protease inhibitor alpha-2 macroglobulin, and that this form is devoid of immunoreactivity. Another fraction is linked to the protease inhibitor alpha-1 antichymotrypsin (PSA ACT). The remaining PSA does not form complexes and is called free PSA. The latter two forms are detected by most immunoassays, and constitute what is called total PSA. (19,20,21)

PSA concentrations depend on the standard used to calibrate the test. Currently, concentrations measured by automated immunoassay systems are standardized based on the international reference standard WHO 96/670.(22)

This standardized PSA test (90% of PSA ACT and 10% free PSA) has been proposed in the mid-nineties, with the intention to mitigate the response of certain non-equimolar PSA tests. Over time, the original intent of establishing a "standard equimolar" has evolved towards the adoption of the WHO standard 96/670 as a new "standard mass" test for PSA detection. (23)

As the distribution of PSA values differed markedly from a Gaussian, we decided to transform them into logarithmic values (LogPSA) (Figure 1). Again, summary tables were used to describe the characteristics of recorded PSA levels, and histograms, dot-plot and box-plot graphs were generated.



The technique of variogram analysis was used to assess the variance of two different log-transformed measures of PSA in study patients, and its changes as a function of the time span

separating both measures.(24) Over a very short time span, this variance reflects only the rapid fluctuation due to biological and analytical variability, while over a longer time span it incorporates clinically significant evolutions in the measured parameter. A variogram over several points X1, X2, X3, X4... is simply constructed as a series of variances of two points, calculated by keeping the first point as reference and taking all subsequent points into the calculation of variances:

$$Variogram = [Var(X1, X2), Var(X1, X3), Var(X1, X4)...]$$

The variance of two points is actually equal to the variance of their difference:

$$Var(DX) = \left(X_{initial}^{2} + X_{current}^{2}\right) - \frac{\left(X_{initial} + X_{current}\right)^{2}}{2}$$

If there is no time trend and patients simply oscillate around their individual set point, then the expected variogram is flat and shows constant basal variability (biological + analytical). If there exists a drift in the patients, then the expected variogram increases gradually, showing how time increases the discrepancy between values successively measured in the patients. If we assume this drift to be linear, then we expect the variogram to diverge according to a parabolic curve depending only on squared time:

$$Var(DX) = Var_{basal} + Var_{slope} \cdot t^2$$

where Var_{basal} is the short-term test-retest variance (biological + analytical), amounting to twice the variance of X, and Var_{slope} quantifies the variability of individual slopes among the patient population. A

family of parabolic curves can thus be fitted to the series of two-by-two variance values, using hierarchical mixed effects regression that accounts for random patient effects. Extrapolation of the average curve to time zero gives the short-term variability (biological + analytical), and we can estimate that the average time to wait for a drift leading to a variation of magnitude similar to the short-term variability.

The description of PSA trajectories was complemented by longitudinal non-linear mixed effect modelling, according to the equation:

$$PSA = PSA_{preop} \left(e^{-d \cdot t} + e^{g \cdot t} - 1 \right)$$

where PSA_{preop} is the last PSA value before prostatectomy, *d* the rate constant for postoperative decrease, *g* the rate constant for late re-growth, according to model proposed by *Stein and al.* (24). This analysis was performed using the Nonmem software (version 7.1, ICON Development Solutions Division, Ellicott City, MD USA), a non-linear mixed effects modelling software tool mostly used for population pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic analysis, but able to fit datasets with all kinds of non-linear equations. Competing models that assumed various distributions for parameters and residual errors and incorporated clinically meaningful covariates influencing the parameters were tested by likelihood ratio tests and inspection of diagnostic plots. The model found to best describe the observations was used to generate sets of 1000 simulations for each level of predictive covariates, with random variability in parameters and errors following the assumed probability distributions. These simulations served to calculate percentiles 10, 25, 50 (median), 75 and 90 of expected spread of postoperative PSA values.

5. PSADT calculation and predictive performance

We tested the two PSADT calculation methods mostly used in the literature: the 2-point method and the log slope method.(17) The 2-point method defines PSADT as:

$$\frac{Ln(2)\cdot \Delta t}{Ln(PSA_{current}) - Ln(PSA_{initial})}$$

where Δt is the time span in years separating two PSA determinations. The log slope method is defined by:

$$\frac{Ln(2)}{m}$$

Where the slope m is obtained by linear regression of the log-transformed PSA values over time, which can accommodate more than two points:

$$Ln[PSA_{current}] = Ln[PSA_{initial}] + m \cdot t$$

Then we applied both these formulae several times, while using different PSA cut-offs: first we used all postoperative PSA values; then we restricted to analysis to only values equal to or greater than 0.1 ng/mL, as recommended by the Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center inspired from Pound and al.(13); then to values starting at 0.2 ng/mL, inspired by the recommendantions from the European Association of Urology. PSADT was also calculated at different times, i.e. six months, one, two, and three years after RP. Cox proportional hazards regression analysis was used to compare the various determinations of PSADT with regard to their additional predictive performance of cancer relapse (BCR). We used Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and Cox proportional hazard models, comparing models by likelihood ratio tests.

Test significance throughout our analyses was considered for by a *p* value smaller than 0.05 (*P*<0.05); 95% Confidence Intervals (CI95%) were also built up around estimates provided by model fitting.

Results

1.Descriptive Analysis

1.1. Study Population

A total of 102 individuals who underwent radical prostatectomy compose our study population. Their median follow-up was 5.8 years, mean (SD) 5.0 (3.6) years, range 0.8-19 years. Their median and mean age at the time of diagnosis was 65.2 (6.75) years; the youngest was diagnosed with 50 and the oldest with 80. All clinical markers could not be established for each patient at time of diagnosis. We found 89/100 pTNM values, 93/102 Gleason scores and 79/102 biopsies information about the capsular penetration. TNM stages were quite variable between patients, with 46/102 below pT2cN0M0 on diagnosis time. On diagnosis 12/102 patients had positive nodes and one had a metastasis; the most frequent scores were pT2cN0M0 in 20 patients, followed by pT3aN0M0 in 13 and pT2aN0M0 in 12. The highest scores were pT4N0M0 and pT4N1M0 (each 1/102). Gleason scores ranged between 2 and 9; 14 patients had Gleason scores \leq 5, 66 between 6 and 7, and $11 \geq 8$. A total of 212 imaging reports were reviewed during the survey in the medical records, as well as 102 biopsy reports. Fifty-two patients (52/102) had a BCR, defined by occurrence of distant metastases, local tumor recurrence on imaging or biopsies, or initiation of secondary anticancer therapy (figure 2). Among them, only thirty one (31/102) had proven relapse confirmed by imaging (MRI, CT-Scan, PETscan) or biopsies. Twenty-one patients were thus treated on the basis of a pure biochemical relapse without establishment of further evidence of recurrence by imaging and biopsy. Twenty-three patients (23/102) developed metastases subsequently, while only one patient had metastases on diagnosis time.

Since our data are censored, this limits the interest of proportions of relapse or remission. However, our population at the end of the observation period included: 49% relapse-free patients (50/102); 21 % treated only on the basis of PSA increase (21/102); 17% treated for recurrence on imaging or biopsy exploration (16/102); 12.7% treated after PSA increase with relapse later confirmed by imaging (13/102); 1.9% never considered in remission after surgery





because of advanced stage cancer (2/102). It should be noted that four patients never received treatment after confirmation of recurrence, either because declining or late entry in our study leaving no time to observe the treatment. During our observation window, the mean time of BCR occurrence in recurring patients was 3.4 years (median 2.6, SD 3.1; range 0.05 to 12.2). The global description of the survival curve over the whole patient set using the Kaplan-Meier approach indicated a median [CI95%] relapse-free survival of 5.4 years [4.4 to 11.0] (Figure. 2).

Table 1: Population characteristics at the end of the study window.				
Number of patients	102			
Median follow-up years, (range)	5	(1-19)		
Median age on diagnosis (range)	66	(50-80)		
TNM staging classification, No. (%) of patients				
T1a	1	(0.2)		
T1b	0	(0)		
T1c	2	(2.2)		
T2a	16	(15.7)		
126	9	(8.8)		
T2c	25	(24.4)		
T3a	17	(16.8)		
T3b	17	(16.8)		
	2	(2.2)		
undefined	13	(12.9)		
	102	(100)		
Gleason Score, No. (%) of patients	4	(4.4)		
Z-4	4	(4.4)		
5	12	(11./)		
6	33	(32.2)		
/	33	(32.2)		
8-10	11	(10.7)		
Total	102	(0.0)		
$\mathbf{IO}(\mathbf{a})$	102	(100)		
Capsular penetration, No. (%) of patients	۲4	(52)		
Ur Non CD	24	(33)		
undofined	24	(23.3)		
Total	102	(100)		
Nodel infiltration No. (%) of nationts	102	(100)		
N nositive	12	(117)		
N negative	72	(716)		
undefined	, 3 17	(167)		
Total	102	(100)		
Biochemical relapse (BCR)	52	()		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Imagery and biopsy proven-relapse	31			

1.2. Relation between clinical markers and outcomes (univariate analysis)

Prognostic factors were first tested independently from each other to determine whether they predicted the occurrence of relapse. Firstly, age did not predict BCR (*P*>0.3, *Hazard ratio* (HR) [CI95%]

= 1.02 [0.9-1.1] per year). Conversely, Gleason score was highly correlated with the occurrence of biochemical or proven relapse (P<0.001, HR = 2.0 [1.5-2.7] per score point). Similarly, pTNM and capsular penetration strongly predicted the occurrence of BCR. To determine predictability of pTNM, we separated the TNM dimensions into: T (invasion stage), N (nodes) and M (metastases). As T is defined by the levels T1a-T1b-T1c-T2a-T2b-T2c-T3a-T3b-T4 rather than a continuous value, we sought the most suitable cut-off to create a binary variable (coded 0 or 1). T2c and T3a were clearly the cut-offs predicting BCR best (P<0.001; \geq T3a: HR = 3.81 [1.9-7.3]; \geq T2c: HR = 4.99 [2.0- 12.1]). For the sake of simplicity we used the cut-off \geq T3a for T. with a predictive value was found as well for positive nodal invasion on diagnosis (N) (P<0.001; HR = 8.24 [3.9- 16.9]). Only one patient was diagnosed with metastases, not enabling to evaluate a predictive power. Capsular Penetration, determined for seventy-eight patients, also strongly predicted the occurrence of BCR (P=0.001; HR = 5.72 [1.9-16.5]). The differences in survival curves associated with parameters recorded at the time of initial diagnosis are striking (Figure 3).



Figure 3: (*A*) Kaplan-Meier plots of Biochemical-relapse by Gleason score; — Gleason 3-4; – – Gleason 5-6; — Gleason 7-8; … Gleason 9 (*B*) Kaplan-Meier plots of Biochemical-relapse by Grade T; — T1a-c; – -T2a-c; — T3a-b; … T4 (*C*) Kaplan-Meier plots of Biochemical-relapse by Nodal Invasion; — Non Nodal Invasion at diagnosis; – – Nodal invasion (*D*) Kaplan-Meier plots of Biochemical-relapse by Capsular Penetration; — Non Capsular Penetration at diagnosis; – – Capsular Penetration

1.3. Prediction of outcome by clinical markers (multivariate approach)

The many clinical makers separately found to predict the outcome are however intercorrelated with each other, calling for their combination in a multivariate analysis. Combining T score ($T \ge T3a$) with nodular invasion (N), both markers maintained a high level of prediction (*P*=0.0001 for both; $\ge T3a$: HR = 5.1 [2.4-10.9]; N: HR = 3.9 [1.9-8.2]). Adding Gleason score to T and N made Gleason score lose significance (*P*=0.12; HR = 1.36 [0.9-2.0]). Trying to delineate cut-offs on Gleason score did not improve its predictive value. The same happened on combining capsular penetration with T and N, which also lost its significance (*P*=0.07; HR = 3.8 [0.8-18.2]). We concluded that in our study population, the only markers association remaining significant was the combination of T (\ge T3a) and nodular invasion (N) on diagnosis (Figure 4).



2. Assessment of PSA post-operative Monitoring

2.1. Time of postoperative PSA determinations

The number of PSA measurements by patient varied between 5 and 45, the median for the population was 16 determinations per patient. The PSA levels spanned from 0.01 to 1364 ng/mL; despite the existence of high values the median of PSA levels was 0.3 ng/mL and the mean 0.34 ng/mL (Table 2).

Table 2 : PSA and PSADT levels measurements characteristics					
Total of PSA measurements 6 Median PSA measurements pro patients, (range)	653 16	(5-45)			
Mean of total PSA levels (ng/mL), (range)	0.3	(0.01-1363)			
Median PSA decrease (%) after Radical Prostatectomy, (p25; p75) -9	8%	(-95%; -99%)			
Median time (month) past after Radical Prostatectomy (range) for: 1 ^{rst} PSA measurement					
2 nd PSA measurement	1.3				
3 rd PSA measurement	5.3				
1	0.3				
Total PSADT log slope method measurements 4	438				
Total PSADT 2-points method measurements 4	436				
Median PSADT log slope method in month (p25; p75)	8	(-5.7; 23.8)			
Median PSADT 2-points method in month (p25; p75)	3.2	(-1.9; 14.6)			

After radical prostatectomy we observed a PSA decrease, by a mean (SD) of -91% (24%). This decrease was evaluated for 96 patients with early postoperative PSA determination. The median of the decrease was about -98%.

The levels of PSA measured out of relapse were compared with those measured on relapse detection. A multilevel regression analysis was used to account for both inter-patient and intra-patient variability, and revealed a difference of 0.875 in logarithms, corresponding to a 7.5-fold increase (p<0.0001); this difference showed an inter-patient variability of 3.4 fold, while the inter-patient variability in the baseline was 6.2 fold, and the residual (intra-patient) variability 4.2 fold (Figure 5).



The European Association of Urology recommends postoperative PSA level determination at 3, 6 and 12 months. Our data actually indicated an median of the first control time at 1.3 month (40 days) after RP (IQR; 1 to 2.8 months). In other words, seventy-five percent of PSA measurements were requested before three months. Regarding the second and third PSA measurements, the practitioners behaved closer to the European recommendations, the second PSA was requested at a median time of 5.3 months after RP (IQR; 3.2 to 8 months) and for the third one at 10.3 months after RP(IQR; 10.3 to 14 months).

2.2. Postoperative PSA trajectories

The individual postoperative PSA trajectories observed before institution of any secondary treatment were modeled according to the equation proposed by *Stein and al* (24). PSA trajectories were highly variable and divergent between patients. The best model that we found to describe the population dynamics of PSA accommodated log-normally distributed (i.e. proportional) variability on 3 parameters, namely the preoperative PSA level, the relative postoperative decrease rate constant and the late regrowth rate constant. A better fit was obtained on introducing covariance terms between the parameters in the population, thus assumed to follow a fully specified log-trinormal distribution. The residuals (differences between modeled and observed values) were considered to follow a mixed additive and multiplicative error distribution. A systematic search for influential covariates on the regrowth rate constant identified the T score (dichotomized into T<3 versus \geq T3a) and the N score (0 versus 1) as statistically significant predictors of PSA trajectories, in line with the results of our relapse-free survival analysis. The model identified a very steep postoperative decrease in PSA with a rate constant (*d*) of 50.9 year⁻¹, corresponding to a half-life of 5 days. Patients with scores of T<3 and

N=0 had an average regrowth rate of 0.01064, corresponding to an average doubling time of about 65 years; however, a salient variability of 210% affected this parameter. A T score of T3a or more would divide this doubling time by 5.14, and a N score of 1 would further divide it by 11.3 (Table 3).

Table 3: Population parameters characterizing postoperative PSA trajectories(RSE= relative standard errors)								
Parameter	Population (R	n average SE)	Popula	tion variability (RSE)				
PSA _{preop} (ng/mL)	6.99 (12	1%)	84%	(19%)				
d (year-1)	50.9 (10	0%)	51%	(25%)				
g (year-1)	0.01064 (9º	%)	210%	(21%)				
(T≥T3a) on g	× 5.14 (52	2%)						
(N=1) on g	× 11.3	42%)						

A global graph of the fitted individual trajectories superimposed to the observations (figure 6) shows the very important variability in the evolution of postoperative PSA. Graphs were also generated based on simulations, showing the typical trajectories for the 4 combination of T and N scores, surrounded by 25%-75% and 90% prediction bands confirming the persistence of wide variability even after accounting for both scores (figure 7).



Master's thesis No 110 Hugo Teixeira Farinha



2.3. Variogram of PSA evolution

Variograms to assess the variance PSA levels were constructed as well, to demonstrate the increase in two-point variance in Log(PSA) levels over time, the first measurement corresponding to the earliest postoperative PSA value. (Figure 8) Again, the analysis selected only PSA values preceding any secondary treatment. Under the assumption of linear drifts in LogPSA values, the variogram was assumed to diverge mathematically according to a parabolic curve depending only on squared time. A multilevel regression analysis found a short-term test-retest variance (Var_{basal}) of 0.17, corresponding to 121% short-term variability in the original PSA measure, and a quadratic slope (Var_{slope}) 0.0148, indicating that only after 3.4 years would an increase in PSA have a probability of 50% or more to

correspond to a definite increase rather than to short term test-retest variability. But here again, this global estimate is associated with very important differences among individual patients, which limits its general applicability. Actually the short-term variance spreads with an SD of 0.31 among patients, and the quadratic time slope with an SD of 0.0196, suggesting that some patients have a steady variance on the long term, and some others a rather quickly increasing variance, which is in line with the important variability found in individual PSA trajectories. For example, 5% of the patients would need less that 1.9 years for their increase in PSA to exceed the short-term test-retest variability.



2.4. PSA responsiveness to re-intervention

The purpose of our work was not to describe and to examine the response of PSA to treatments such as radiotherapy and hormonal therapy. However, we mention the impact that re-intervention can have on PSA levels. The median PSA decrease observed in 36 patients receiving radiotherapy was -40% (IQR; +1.32% to -73%), and the median of PSA decrease in 92 patients receiving hormonal therapies was -83% (IQR; -25% to -97%). This impact of PSA was assessed across both proven-relapse and BCR cases.

3. Analysis of PSA doubling time

3.1. Determination of PSA doubling time (PSADT)

Both methods of PSADT calculation, namely the 2-points and the log slope method were tested. We applied several options for determining the doubling time in order to compare them. The PSADT values appeared to follow a markedly non-normal distribution, making it difficult to reveal any relationships between the occurrence of relapse and doubling time by using the values in the original scale. To improve this, we applied the inverse transformation to PSADT (1/PSADT), thus obtaining a more Gaussian distribution as shown by the two graphs below (Figure 9). The PSADT values, provided in years, make higher values reflect slow progression, lower values rapid progression, but negative values a decrease in tumor secretion. Conversely, higher values of inverse PSADT (in year⁻¹)indicate rapid progression, lower values slow progression, zero an absence of progression, and negative values a regression, which is advantageous for grouping and calculations, besides their better behaved distribution. However, we transformed back our results into the PSADT scale (in months) to express them according to usual practice.



PSADT was first determined using the 2-points method . We obtained 438 values on including all PSA values, with a median doubling time of 3.2 months (IQR; -1.9 to 14.6). Selecting higher PSA concentration cut-offs, we obtained 355 values for a cut-off ≥ 0.1 ng/mL with a median of 3.4 months (IQR; -1.1 to 12.5 months), and 324 values for a cut-off ≥ 0.2 ng/mL with a median of 3.2 month (IQR; -1 to 12.3 months).

Secondly, PSADT was determined using the Log-slope method. Including all PSA values gave a median doubling time of 8 months (IQR; -5.6 to 23.8 months). Selecting higher PSA level cut-offs, we obtained 245 values for a cut-off ≥ 0.1 ng/mL with a median of 12.2 months (IQR; 6 to 31 months) and 210 values for a cut-off of ≥ 0.2 ng/mL with a median of 12 months (IQR; 6.6 to 26.4 months).

Increasing the PSA cut-off leaves less available PSA measurements to determine PSADT and tends to select out shorter estimates of PSADT.

3.2. PSADT log slope method versus 2-points method (univariate approach)

When we compared both methods of PSADT calculation, regardless of the follow-up time and without using any cut-off of PSADT, we observed that PSADT calculated with the Log-slope method predicted BCR (P<0.0001, HR [CI95%] = 1.83 [1.4-2.4]) than PSADT calculated with the 2-point method (P=0.009, HR = 1.4 [1.1-1.8]). The explanation is that the Log-slope method calculates PSADT taking into account all PSA levels before the last PSA measurement, compared to the 2-point method that calculates PSADT considering only the first and last PSA levels. Because of this characteristic, the Log slope method appears more suitable to predict BCR after radical prostatectomy.

Applying a cut-off to include PSA levels into PSADT calculation did not improve BCR prediction. Dropping out PSA values below 0.1 ng/mL or 0.2 ng/mL decreased the significance of predictions based on PSADT compared to including all PSA values. Using the 2-point method, the selection of PSA values above 0.1 ng/mL decreased the predictive power of PSADT (P=0.071, HR = 1.3 [1-1.7]), and the selection of values over 0.2 ng/mL even further (P=0.095, HR = 1.26 [1-1.7]), in comparison to the inclusion of all PSA values (P=0.009). The same was observed using the Log-slope method, if we restricted the calculation to PSA values over 0.1 ng/mL (P=0.003, HR = 2.5 [1.4-4.6]) and over 0.2 ng/mL (P=0.005, HR = 2.3 [1.3-4.1]), in comparison to keeping all PSA values (P<0.0001). Thus, applying PSA cut-offs to PSADT calculation justworsened its predictive value, some predictions being still significant though.

4. Predictive value of PSADT regarding cancer relapse

4.1. PSADT predictive value at 6 month, 1 year, 2 years and 3 years after RP (univariate approach)

As mentioned above, the best method for calculating doubling time was the Log-slope method. Determining PSADT on results obtained within 6 months after operation significantly predicted BCR occurrence on the long term (P=0.005, HR [CI95%] = 1.2 [1-1.3]). Similarly, BCR was significantly predicted by PSADT determined with 1 year after operation (P=0.001, HR = 1.4 [1.1-1.7]), 2 years (P=0.033, HR = 1.7 [1-2.8]) and 3 years (P=0.001, HR = 2.6 [1.4-4.6]). Selecting only the PSA values over 0.1 ng/mL again decreased its predictive power (for example PSADT determined with the Log-slope method at 1 year using only values \geq 0.1 ng/mL gave P=0.475and HR = 0.95 [0.9-1.1]).

4.2. Predictive value of PSADT cut-offs (univariate approach)

Although PSADT determined by the Log-slope method was highly significant to predict BCR after radical prostatectomy, it is a continuous valued marker possibly difficult to use in practice. Therefore, we tried to determine whether specific doubling time cut-off woud be as much predictive of BCR, and more convenient regarding clinical use. We first calculated the predictive value of negative PSADT estimates (which indicate a decrease in PSA) versus positive ones (which indicate a rise in PSA).

Unsurprisingly, positive PSADT was strongly predictive of a relapse compared to negative PSADT (extremely high HR estimate). Notice that this approach turned out to be completely specific regarding relapse in our patient population (Figure 10). Then we decided to test further doubling time cut-offs, namely 3 months, 6 months, 12 months and 24.

All cut-offs were significant for forecasting BCR at 6 months and 1 year, the best cut-off was 3 months of doubling time (6 months: P=0.005, HR [CI95%] = 5.6 [1.7-19.1]; 1 year: P=0.010, HR = 5.4 [1.5-19.2]). At 2 years and 3 years the best cut-off was 12 months of doubling time: (2 years: P=0.010, HR = 3.8 [1.4-10.7]; 3 years: P<0.001, HR = 5.4 [3.2-30.6]).



Figure 10: — negatives PSADT (log slope method), represent the decreasing PSA; – – – positives PSADT (log slope method), represent increasing PSA. We see that when PSA decreases BCR does not occur.

4.3 Added value of PSADT in outcome prediction (multivariate approach)

As demonstrated above, PSADT calculated with the Log-slope method predicted the outcome significantly as single predictor most of the times. But in order to establish its real utility, it was necessary to check whether PSADT added something to clinical markers such as T (\geq T3a) and nodular invasion N(=1), which were the clinical markers found to best predict relapse. We therefore combined PSADT with the clinical markers T \geq T3a and N=1, using an assumption-nested likelihood ratio test. Patients with unknown clinical markers T or N were excluded from the calculation (19/102).

All inversed PSADT log slope values added to T \geq T3a and N=1, taken with no time cut-offs, improved the prediction based only on clinical markers (*P*<0.0001, HR [CI95%] = 1.7 [1.3-2.2] per year⁻¹). A significant prediction benefit was observed as well for PSADT calculated with the 2-point method, but with a smaller *P* value (*P*=0.03). Taking all PSADT values (log slope method) calculated without using

PSA below 0.1 ng/mL had still a significant, however less marked predictive effect (*P*=0.002). We also analyzed in a multivariate approach the predictive value of PSADT (Log-slope) at 6 month, 1 year, 2 years and 3 years after RP, including all PSA values in PSADT calculation.

PSA doubling time evaluated over the 6 first months postoperatively still contributed to BCR prediction after taking into account the clinical markers T and N (P=0.016, HR = 1.1 [1-1.3] per year-1). The best PSADT cut-off determined 6 months post surgery was 3 months doubling time (P=0.038 HR = 5.4 [1.3-22.3]).

PSADT measured over the first year after surgery contributed similarly to BCR prediction, with a Hazard ratio of 1.3 per year⁻¹ (P=0.033 HR = 1.3 [1-1.7]). We were unable to determine a cut-off regarding the doubling times at 1 year if we take into consideration the interquartile range of PSADT log slope method (IQR; 5.7 to 23.8 months). Nonetheless the cut off of 60 months was determined to the first year post surgery (P=0.038).

PSADT at 2 and 3 years post surgery did not improve BCR prediction compared to only T score and nodal invasion (P=0.25 at 2 years, P=0.83 at 3 years). However, a cut-off of 8 months doubling time at 2 years and 24 months doubling time at 3 years improved the BCR prediction (P=0.047 for 8 months at 2 years and P=0.0005 for 24 months at 3 years) ((8 months: HR = 3.7 [1-12.8]; 24 months: 8.1 [2.1-30.7]).

Discussion

This retrospective study recorded longitudinal series of PSA determinations in 102 unselected patients followed up after radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer. It found again the relationships already known between classical prognostic markers (TNM score, Gleason score, capsular penetration) and the probability of relapse or duration of relapse-free survival. The profiles of PSA measurements could be described according to a non-linear mixed effect model, which confirmed the predictive role of TNM score. A wide variability remained however salient among individual PSA trajectories, bringing definite justification to regular monitoring of this biomarker after surgery. The strategy currently recommended for PSA monitoring makes sense. There is a definite advantage to examine the kinetics of PSA rather that its mere levels, which can be made through the calculation of PSA doubling time (PSADT), as advised by several authors. Our data indicate that the Log-slope calculation method is preferable to the 2-points method, and that the inclusion of all PSA values is preferable to the selection of values above 0.1 or 0.2 ng/mL suggested by some authors. Even in the early postoperative period (6 months or 1 year), PSADT definitely improves the prediction of prostate cancer relapse after radical prostatectomy.

The characteristics of our population do not markedly differ from large populations cohorts previously described. A retrospective review of a surgical series including 1997 men between 1982 and 1997 operated by a single surgeon for clinically localized prostate cancer with a median follow-up of 5.3 years, found only 18% of relapses (13), which is less than our 51%. This is however explained by this series containing only 7.6% of patients with T grade T2c or higher, in comparison to 40.5% in our series. Only 17% of our patients with a T grade below T2c experienced cancer relapse.

It had been repeatedly shown that prognostic markers such as TNM grade, Gleason score and Capsular penetration predict significantly the occurrence of relapse. Due to intercorrelation between those markers, in our limited case series T grade and nodular invasion were the factors best predicting the risk of relapse, whereas Gleason score and capsular penetration did not bring further refinement to this prediction. The cut-off T3a appears to be adequate to split patient into groups in terms of relapse prediction, while the presence or absence of node invasion delineates further subgroups. However, individual PSA trajectories inside these subgroups remain highly variable and divergent, thus leaving room for the contribution of PSA monitoring to better predict relapse.

The superiority of the Log-slope method for post surgery PSA monitoring is mainly due to the inclusion of all available measurements, while the 2-point method takes into account only the first and latest PSA in order to calculate a doubling time, thus leaving more influence to "noise", i.e. errors related to both analytical methods and short-term biological fluctuations.

The Sloan-Kettering Cancer Centre, based on the work of Pound *et al.*,(9) offers online prostate cancer calculators for PSA doubling time. Such tools can be used to calculate PSA doubling time, in months or years in order to predict relapse. Physicians only have to introduce dates and PSA values to determine PSADT, calculated using the log slope method. Only the **PSAI** ng/mL can be insert ed in the calculation tool, though. In contrast, our work indicates that it is advantageous to consider all PSA values even those below 0.1 ng/mL. Indeed, our PSADT estimates including all values of PSA predicted relapse significantly better. This would suggest that PSA measurements are reliable even for very small values. In our case however, we have exclusively selected PSA values coming from the same laboratory, and our observations might not be applicable to series of PSA measures produced by different laboratories.

PSADT improved prediction also in association with clinical markers such as T grade and nodular invasion. The establishment of doubling time cut-offs, as suggested by others (25), did not improve the predictive effectiveness of PSADT.

This work has several limitations. First, it included a limited number of patients, with a possible impact on its ability to detect clinically significant trends with sufficient statistical significance. We believe that our study population has little chance to suffer from a selection bias, however this is impossible to prove, as sociologically different patients (e.g. with insufficient follow up or complicated evolution) may not have been recruited with our criteria. The duration of the investigation window may not have been long enough to observe late relapses, due to censored data. This censorship may also be due to patients who have died of causes unrelated to CP or patients who left the laboratory during the observation time. The accessibility of medical records by the attending physician may also have induced subtle selection biases and undermined the representativeness of the sample. All patients came from the same geographical area and were operated by a small group of surgeons. Although such a study minimizes the impact of surgeons regarding outcomes (it was said that that the only surgical impact is the inadvertent capsular incision during the operation), the modus operandi of western Swiss surgeons may certainly differ from other parts of the World, and thus influence the occurrence of relapses.(26) The value of PSA can be further influenced by medication, patient lifestyle (bicycle, sport) or by non-resected normal tissue.(27,28,29)

As the patients followed up over the most prolonged durations ended up with relapse (figure 1), this suggests that the relevant question for PSA monitoring is not whether a relapse will occur or not, but rather when it will occur. In that aspect, another limitation of our study was that the predictive value of PSA monitoring was evaluated against an outcome that included itself the evolution of PSA in its definition. Moreover, in 40% of our relapse cases, the diagnosis of relapse relied solely on PSA values, making the evaluation of PSA monitoring a quasi circular problem in such situations. However, the evaluation of a monitoring strategy is not limited to its ability to predict an outcome. The variogram approach is another way to determine whether the frequency of monitoring is in accordance with its ability to detect clinically relevant trends. In this regard, the frequency of PSA monitoring advised by current recommendations seems not markedly exaggerated, due to the clinically relevant information content of this biomarker in a situation dominated by marked inter-patient variability in trajectories.

In conclusion, our results essentially support the regular follow-up of PSA and calculation of PSADT for detection of cancer relapse after radical prostatectomy.

References :

- 1. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, et al. Cancer statistics, 2008. CA Cancer J Clin. 2008 avr;58(2):71–96.
- 2. Bratt O. Hereditary prostate cancer: clinical aspects. J. Urol. 2002 sept;168(3):906–13.
- 3. Amling CL, Blute ML, Bergstralh EJ, Seay TM, Slezak J, Zincke H. Long-term hazard of progression after radical prostatectomy for clinically localized prostate cancer: continued risk of biochemical failure after 5 years. J. Urol. 2000 juil;164(1):101–5.
- 4. Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, Ruutu M, Häggman M, Andersson S-O, Bratell S, et al. Radical prostatectomy versus watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 2005 mai 12;352(19):1977–84.
- 5. Tasian GE, Cooperberg MR, Cowan JE, Keyashian K, Greene KL, Daniels NA, et al. Prostate specific antigen screening for prostate cancer: Knowledge of, attitudes towards, and utilization among primary care physicians. Urol Oncol. 2010
- 6. Ito K. Prostate-specific antigen-based screening for prostate cancer: Evidence, controversies and future perspectives. International Journal of Urology. 2009;16(5):458–464.
- 7. Scher HI. Management of prostate cancer after prostatectomy: treating the patient, not the PSA. JAMA. 1999;281(17):1642.
- 8. Stephenson AJ. Postoperative Nomogram Predicting the 10-Year Probability of Prostate Cancer Recurrence After Radical Prostatectomy. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2005 juill;23(28):7005–12.
- 9. Pound CR, Partin AW, Epstein JI, Walsh PC. Prostate-Specific Antigen after anatomic radical retropubic prostatectomy. Urol. Clin. North Am. 1997 mai;24(2):395–406.
- 10. Heidenreich A, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, Mason M, Matveev V, et al. EAU Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part 1: Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Clinically Localised Disease. European Urology. 2011 janv;59:61–71.
- 11. Mottet N, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, Mason M, Matveev V, et al. EAU Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part II: Treatment of Advanced, Relapsing, and Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. European Urology. 2011 avr;59(4):572–83.
- 12. Hernandez J, others, Cookson MS, Aus G, Burnett AL, Canby-Hagino ED, et al. Variation in the definition of biochemical recurrence in patients treated for localized prostate cancer: the American Urological Association Prostate Guidelines for Localized Prostate Cancer Update Panel report and recommendations for a standard in the reporting of surgical outcomes. The Journal of urology. 2007;177(2):540–5.
- 13. Pound CR, Partin AW, Eisenberger MA, Chan DW, Pearson JD, Walsh PC. Natural history of progression after PSA elevation following radical prostatectomy. Jama. 1999;281(17):1591.
- 14. Amling CL, Bergstralh EJ, Blute ML, Slezak JM, Zincke H. Defining prostate specific antigen progression after radical prostatectomy: what is the most appropriate cut point? J. Urol. 2001 avr;165(4):1146–51.
- 15. Ahove DA, Hoffman KE, Hu JC, Choueiri TK, D'Amico AV, Nguyen PL. Which Patients With Undetectable PSA Levels 5 Years After Radical Prostatectomy Are Still at Risk of Recurrence?-Implications for a Risk-adapted Follow-up Strategy. Urology [Internet]. 2010 août 13;Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20709376
- 16. Tollefson MK, Slezak JM, Leibovich BC, Zincke H, Blute ML. Stratification of patient risk based on prostatespecific antigen doubling time after radical retropubic prostatectomy. Mayo Clin. Proc. 2007 avr;82(4):422–7.
- 17. Daskivich TJ, Regan MM, Oh WK. Prostate Specific Antigen Doubling Time Calculation: Not as Easy as 1, 2, 4. The Journal of Urology. 2006 nov;176:1927–37.
- 18. Stamey TA, Johnstone IM, McNEAL J, Lu AY, Yemoto CM. Preoperative serum prostate specific antigen levels between 2 and 22 ng./ml. correlate poorly with post-radical prostatectomy cancer morphology: prostate specific antigen cure rates appear constant between 2 and 9 ng./ml. The Journal of urology. 2002;167(1):103–11.
- 19. Lilja H. Structure, function, and regulation of the enzyme activity of prostate-specific antigen. World J Urol. 1993;11(4):188–91.

- 20. Lilja H, Christensson A, Dahlén U, Matikainen MT, Nilsson O, Pettersson K, et al. Prostate-specific antigen in serum occurs predominantly in complex with alpha 1-antichymotrypsin. Clin. Chem. 1991 sept;37(9):1618–25.
- 21. Graves HC. Standardization of immunoassays for prostate-specific antigen. A problem of prostate-specific antigen complexation or a problem of assay design? Cancer. 1993 déc 1;72(11):3141–4.
- 22. Rafferty B, Rigsby P, Rose M, Stamey T, Gaines Das R. Reference reagents for prostate-specific antigen (PSA): establishment of the first international standards for free PSA and PSA (90:10). Clin Chem 200; 46: 1310-17
- 23. Stamey TA, Teplow DB, Graves HC. Identity of PSA purified from seminal fluid by different methods: comparison by amino acid analysis and assigned extinction coefficients. Prostate. 1995 oct;27(4):198–203.
- 24. Stein DS, Gulley JL, Scholm J, Madan RA, Dahut W, Figg WD, Ning Y, Arlen PM, Price D, Bates SE, Fojo T. Tumor Regression and Growth Rates Determined in Five Intramural NCI Prostate Cancer Trials: The Growth Rate Constant as an Indicator of Therapeutic Efficacy. Clincal Cancer Research. 2011: 17:907-917
- 25. D'Amico AV, Moul JW, Carroll PR, Sun L, Lubeck D, Chen M-H. Surrogate end point for prostate cancer-specific mortality after radical prostatectomy or radiation therapy. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2003 sept 17;95(18):1376–83.
- 26. Sımsır A, Cal C, Mammadov R, Cureklıbatır I, Semercı B, Gunaydın G. Biochemical recurrence after radical prostatectomy: is the disease or the surgeon to blame? Int Braz J Urol. 2011 juin;37(3):328–34; discussion 334–5.
- 27. Etzioni RD, Howlader N, Shaw PA, Ankerst DP, Penson DF, Goodman PJ, et al. Long-term effects of finasteride on prostate specific antigen levels: results from the prostate cancer prevention trial. Journal of Urology, The. 2005;174(3):877–881.
- 28. Ravery V. The Significance of Reccurent PSA After Radical Prostatectomy: Benign Versus Malignant Sources. Sem Urol Oncol. 1999;17(3):127-129.
- 29. Kindermann W, Lehmann V, Herrmann M, Loch T. Influencing of the PSA concentration in serum by physical exercise (especially bicycle riding). Der Urologe. 2001 Feb: 50(2):188-96.